

The HKU Scholars Hub

The University of Hong Kong



Title	The injury resistant ability of melanopsin-expressing intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells
Author(s)	Cui, Q; Ren, C; Sollars, PJ; Pickard, GE; So, KF
Citation	Neuroscience, 2015, v. 284, p. 845-853
Issued Date	2015
URL	http://hdl.handle.net/10722/209428
Rights	Creative Commons: Attribution 3.0 Hong Kong License

NEUROSCIENCE FOREFRONT REVIEW

THE INJURY RESISTANT ABILITY OF MELANOPSIN-EXPRESSING INTRINSICALLY PHOTOSENSITIVE RETINAL GANGLION CELLS

Q. CUI, ^{a,b,c} C. REN, ^{a,b,c} P. J. SOLLARS, ^e G. E. PICKARD ^{e,f} AND K.-F. SO ^{a,b,c,d*}

^a Guangdong-HongKong-Macau Institute of CNS Regeneration, Jinan University, Guangdong, PR China

^b Guangdong Medical Key Laboratory of Brain Function and Diseases, Jinan University, Guangzhou, PR China

^c GHM Collaboration and Innovation Center for Tissue Regeneration and Repair, Jinan University, Guangzhou, PR China

^d Department of Ophthalmology, University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong

^e School of Veterinary Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University of Nebraska, Lincoln, NE 68583, USA

^f Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68198, USA

Abstract—Neurons in the mammalian retina expressing the photopigment melanopsin have been identified as a class of intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells (ipRGCs). This discovery more than a decade ago has opened up an exciting new field of retinal research, and following the initial identification of photosensitive ganglion cells, several subtypes have been described. A number of studies have shown that ipRGCs subserve photoentrainment of circadian rhythms. They also influence other nonimage forming functions of the visual system, such as the pupillary light reflex, sleep, cognition, mood, light aversion and development of the retina. These novel photosensitive neurons also influence form vision by contributing to contrast detection. Furthermore, studies have shown that ipRGCs are more injury-resistant following optic nerve injury, in animal models of glaucoma, and in patients with mitochondrial optic neuropathies, i.e., Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy and dominant optic atrophy. There is also an indication that these cells may be resistant to glutamateinduced excitotoxicity. Herein we provide an overview of

*Correspondence to: K.-F. So, GHM Institute of CNS Regeneration, Jinan University, 601 West Huangpu Avenue, Guangzhou 510632, Guangdong, PR China. Tel: +86-20-85228362; fax: +86-20-85223563.

E-mail address: hrmaskf@hku.hk (K.-F. So).

Abbreviations: cPAG, caudal periaqueductal gray; DOA, dominant optic atrophy; DRN, dorsal raphe nucleus; GCL, ganglion cell layer; IGL, intergeniculate leaflet; INL, inner nuclear layer; IOP, intraocular pressure; IPL, inner plexiform layer; ipRGCs, intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells; JAK/STAT, Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription; LGN, lateral geniculate nucleus; LHON, Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy; NMDA, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate; OPN, olivary pretectal nucleus; PACAP, pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide; RGCs, retinal ganglion cells; SCN, suprachiasmatic nucleus.

ipRGCs and discuss the injury-resistant character of these neurons under certain pathological and experimental conditions. © 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. on behalf of IBRO. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

Key words: melanopsin, intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cell, injury, survival.

Contents

Introduction	845
Intrinsically photosensitive RGCs (ipRGCs)	
Multiple types of ipRGC	
ipRGCs are resistant to injury	
ipRGCs are resistant to optic nerve damage	848
ipRGCs are resistant to damage in animal models of	
glaucoma	849
ipRGCs and inherited optic neuropathies	849
ipRGCs are protected from N-methyl-D-aspartate	
(NMDA)-induced excitotoxicity	850
Conclusion	
Grant information	
References	

INTRODUCTION

Rods and cones were long believed to be the only mammalian photo-sensitive cells. Phototransduction signals from these cells propagate through the retinal circuitry to modulate action potential firing in retinal ganglion cells (RGCs), the projection neurons of the retina. RGCs send the light information via their axons, which constitute the optic nerve, to targets in the brain, such as the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) of the thalamus, the midbrain superior colliculus (SC), and the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) which mediate form vision, orienting and avoidance responses, and photoentrainment of circadian rhythms, respectively. The LGN relays light information further to the visual cortex for the complex processing necessary for visual perception (Pickard and Sollars, 2012).

In the 1980s, data began accumulating to suggest that circadian rhythms generated by the SCN circadian clock could be shifted in mice in which virtually all classic photoreceptors had degenerated. Moreover, the spectral sensitivity of the photoreceptor that produced these behavioral phase shifts was unlike that of either rods or

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.11.002

^{0306-4522/© 2014} The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. on behalf of IBRO. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

cones (Foster et al., 1991; Provencio et al., 1994; Yoshimura and Ebihara, 1996). Importantly, the lightinduced effects on SCN-clock function in rodless/coneless mice still required illumination of the eyes (Freedman et al., 1999; Lucas et al., 1999). These findings offered the possibility that not all light signals transmitted from the retina to the brain begin with the rod and cone photoreceptors in the eve. This was further supported by observations that: (1) light remained effective in suppressing pineal melatonin secretion and entraining the circadian rhythms in blind patients with severe loss of rods and cones (Czeisler et al., 1995), and (2) photic activation of the SCN was found in newborn mice which had vet to complete development of the retinal rod and cone circuitry (Weaver and Reppert, 1995). Collectively, these reports raised the otherwise unanticipated possibility of the existence of a third photoreceptor in the mammalian eye.

Intrinsically photosensitive RGCs (ipRGCs)

The above-mentioned observations motivated the search for novel photopigments in the mammalian retina. Provencio and his colleagues identified a new opsin, termed melanopsin that was expressed in both primate and rodent retinas but in RGCs rather than rods or cones (Provencio et al., 1998, 2000). Shortly thereafter a vitamin A-based photopigment with peak sensitivity to ~480-nm light was identified functionally in rodless/coneless mice using the pupillary light reflex as a behavioral response (Lucas et al., 2001). The search culminated in 2002 with the breakthrough discovery of ipRGCs (Berson et al., 2002; Hattar et al., 2002). Berson and his colleagues (2002) found that SCN-projecting RGCs responded to light by depolarizing and increasing their firing rate. Electrophysiological analyses showed that these SCN-projecting RGCs respond to light after pharmacological blockade of all signals from the rods and cones, and even after ipRGCs were physically isolated from the rest of the retina. It was concluded that RGCs projecting to the SCN were bona fide photoreceptors, and that these unconventional RGCs probably expressed the recently identified melanopsin protein. Hattar and coworkers (2002) confirmed these observations by showing that indeed these light-responsive RGCs expressed melanopsin and were afferent to the SCN. Additional studies confirmed that melanopsin was the photopigment responsible for bestowing photosensitivity to these RGCs (Panda et al., 2002; Ruby et al., 2002; Lucas et al., 2003). It is now widely acknowledged that, in adult mammals, melanopsin is expressed only in ipRGCs, not in other cell types, and melanopsin is distributed throughout the plasma membrane of both the somata and their dendrites (Belenky et al., 2003; Do et al., 2009).

Multiple types of ipRGC

Initially identified as a single type of RGC (Berson et al., 2002; Hattar et al., 2002), additional morphological and physiological studies have revealed that ipRGCs comprise a far more complex population than originally thought. Based on their morphology, molecular markers,

retinofugal projections, intrinsic photosensitivity, melanopsin protein level, and other electrophysiological properties, ipRGCs are at present believed to comprise at least six types, namely M1–M6 (Fig. 1) (Sekaran et al., 2003; Tu et al., 2005; Jusuf et al., 2007; Viney et al., 2007; Baver et al., 2008; Schmidt et al., 2008, 2014; Badea et al., 2009; Schmidt and Kofuji, 2009; Ecker et al., 2010; Pérez de Sevilla Müller et al., 2010; Estevez et al., 2012; Sand et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2014), with M6 being recently identified (Quattrochi et al., 2013).

The best-characterized ipRGCs are the M1, M2 and M3 types. The majority of M1 cells are located in the ganglion cell layer (GCL) (with some displaced to the inner nuclear laver) and these cells constitute only about 1% (700–900 overall) of the mouse RGC population, but their \sim 300-um diameter dendritic fields tile the entire retinal surface (Berson et al., 2010). The most distinguishable feature among ipRGC subtypes is the region in which their dendrites stratify in the inner plexiform layer (IPL) (Fig. 1). M1 cell dendrites stratify at the outermost margin of the IPL, at the border with the inner nuclear layer (INL) (for review, see Schmidt et al., 2011). This is the classic physiologic "OFF-sublamina" of the IPL where OFF-bipolar cells distribute their axon terminals. Despite their dendrites terminating in the OFF-sub-lamina, M1 cells receive synaptic input from ON-bipolar cells in what has been termed an accessory ON-layer (Dumitrescu et al., 2009; Hoshi et al., 2009). M1 cells have a noticeably high level of melanopsin immunoreactivity (Hattar et al., 2006: Baver et al., 2008). Consequently, M1 cells show the highest intrinsic photosensitivity among the ipRGC types and they also produce the largest intrinsic photocurrent (Schmidt and Kofuji, 2009; for review, see Do and Yau, 2010). A subset of ipRGCs, most likely M1 cells, has intraretinal collateral axonal branches that terminate in the IPL (Joo et al., 2013). These collateral branches are probably responsible for the light-driven responses of dopaminergic amacrine cells that exhibit sustained melanopsindependent light responses (Zhang et al., 2008, 2012). Unexpectedly, M1 ipRGCs have recently been described to send axons into the iris and ciliary body where they appear to participate in the pupillary light reflex (Schmidt et al., 2013; Semo et al., 2014).

Compared with M1 ipRGCs, M2 ipRGCs have larger somata and a more complex dendritic arbor (Hattar et al., 2006; Schmidt and Kofuji, 2009; Berson et al., 2010). The number of M2 cells is similar to M1 cells and M2 ipRGCs also tile the entire retina (Hattar et al., 2006; Berson et al., 2010). Importantly, the dendrites of M2 ipRGCs stratify in the ON-sublamina of the IPL near the border with the GCL (Hattar et al., 2006; Baver et al., 2008; Schmidt and Kofuji, 2009). M2 ipRGCs have an intrinsic photosensitivity that is less than the intrinsic photosensitivity of M1 ipRGCs and they produce a 10-fold smaller maximum photocurrent (Schmidt and Kofuji, 2009). However, they can fire action potentials at far higher frequencies than the M1 cells (Schmidt and Kofuji, 2009). Thus, synaptic input may be more important for driving the M2 ipRGCs over their full dynamic range than it is for driving the M1 cells (for review, see Do and Yau, 2010).



Fig. 1. Morphology of five types of intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cell (ipRGC). Top: *en face* view (scale bar = 100 μ m). Bottom: Dendritic stratification as viewed in schematic radial section. Pale blue bands in the inner plexiform layer (IPL) are the ON and OFF cholinergic bands. There are two bands of melanopsin dendrites, both outside the cholinergic bands. One lies at the margin of the inner nuclear layer (INL), and the second, broader band sits close to the ganglion cell layer (GLC). The outer band contains processes of M1 and M3 cells, the inner one the processes of M2, M3, M4, and M5 cells. There are subtle differences in stratification among the inner-stratifying population. Image from 'Intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells', Berson DM, reprinted courtesy of The MIT Press from *The New Visual Neurosciences* edited by John S. Werner and Leo M. Chalupa.

The dendrites of M3 ipRGCs bistratify in both the inner ON and outer OFF-sublaminae of the IPL, and comprise less than 10% of the ipRGCs (Berson et al., 2010; Schmidt et al., 2011). Detailed analyses of the M3 ipRGCs have revealed that these bistratified RGCs, in contrast to other bistratified RGCs, show variability in the proportion of dendritic stratification in the ON and OFF sublaminae and their dendritic fields do not cover the entire retina (Schmidt and Kofuji, 2011). This has led to questioning whether these RGCs actually represent a specific type of ipRGC (Berson et al., 2010). The M3 ipRGCs are otherwise similar to M2 cells in the size and complexity of their dendritic arbors (Schmidt and Kofuji, 2011). All other ipRGC types including M3 cells are less intrinsically photosensitive than M1 ipRGCs (Schmidt and Kofuji, 2009, 2011; Ecker et al., 2010). This variation in intrinsic photosensitivity may be associated with the different levels of melanopsin in these ipRGC types. because compared to M1 cells, melanopsin abundance appears to be lower in the M2 cells and even lower in the M3 ipRGCs (Schmidt and Kofuji, 2009; Berson et al., 2010; Ecker et al., 2010; Estevez et al., 2012). Thus, ipRGCs as a class may tune their intrinsic sensitivities by their level of melanopsin expression (for review, see Schmidt et al., 2011).

In a study using transgenic mice in which a green fluorescent protein labels melanopsin RGCs, two additional types of ipRGC, M4 and M5, were revealed (Ecker et al., 2010). Both of these ipRGC types stratify in the ON sublamina of the IPL, but each has a unique morphology and can be differentiated from M2 cells (Fig. 1). M4 cells have the largest soma of any described ipRGC subtype, as well as larger and even more complex dendritic arbors than M2 cells (Ecker et al., 2010). By contrast, M5 ipRGCs have small, highly branched arbors arrayed uniformly around the soma (Ecker et al., 2010; for review, see Schmidt et al., 2011). Owing to the low expression level of melanopsin, M4 and M5 subtypes can only be labeled with melanopsin antibody after immunostaining amplification techniques are performed. Consistent with very low levels of melanopsin, these cells exhibit a weak intrinsic light response (Ecker et al., 2010). Nevertheless, the melanopsin-driven intrinsic photo-response of M4 ipRGCs appears to play a functional role contributing to visual contrast sensitivity and also allowing these cells to signal prior light exposure and environmental luminance over long periods of time (Schmidt et al., 2014). Preliminary observations from a transgenic mouse line in which the Cadherin-3 promoter drives enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) expression, have identified a new ipRGC tentatively referred to as M6. These cells have spiny, denselv branched dendritic arbors that often stratify in two sub-laminae of the IPL, express very low levels of melanopsin and produce small intrinsic light responses similar to M4 and M5 ipRGCs (Quattrochi et al., 2013). Although the function of M6 ipRGCs remains to be determined, their projections overlap with those of other ipRGCs, terminating in the olivary pretectal nucleus (OPN) and the intergeniculate leaflet (IGL) (Quattrochi et al., 2013).

The discovery of ipRGCs provided the final proof that some light responses in mammals could originate with non-rod, non-cone photoreceptors in the retina. It also represented a breakthrough in our understanding of the retinal circuitry responsible for a number of biological functions. The past decade has seen this fundamental discovery expand in a number of important directions (Lucas, 2013). Briefly, it is now clear that ipRGCs target numerous discrete brain regions involved in both nonimage-forming and image-forming vision (Pickard, 1985; Morin et al., 2003; Hattar et al., 2006; Fig. 2). In addition to their critical role in mediating circadian photoentrainment, ipRGCs also contribute signals regulating the pupillary light reflex and influencing sleep (Berson et al., 2002; Göz et al., 2008; Güler et al., 2008; Hatori et al., 2008; Tsai et al., 2009; Altimus et al., 2010). During late gestation ipRGCs are responsible for mediating the effects of light on retinal development (Rao et al., 2013). During the early neonatal period ipRGCs are responsible for behavioral responses to light (i.e., negative phototaxis) before the rod/cone circuitry is fully developed (Johnson et al., 2010). Notable central targets of ipRGCs are the SCN and the IGL for circadian entrainment, the OPN for the



Fig. 2. Central targets for intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells (ipRGCs). Visual-related nuclei are shown in red and nonimaging centers are shown in green. The illustration is descriptive as ipRGC projections are not uniform in density. Abbreviations (functions involved): SCN, suprachiasmatic nucleus (circadian rhythms); SC, superior colliculus (vision and eye movement); LGv, lateral geniculate nucleus, ventral division (visuomotor functions); IGL, intergeniculate leaflet (circadian rhythms); OPN, olivary pretectal nucleus (pupillary light reflex); PAG, the rostral periaqueductal gray (conditioned fear, pain and analgesia); MA, medial amygdaloid nucleus (reproductive behavior and conditioned fear); SPZ, subparaventricular zone (sleep and wake regulation); pSON, peri-supraoptic nucleus (neuroendocrine output); LHb, lateral habenula (reward processing, pain and reproductive behavior).

pupillary light reflex, the ventral subparaventricular zone (vSPZ) for masking behavior, the ventrolateral preoptic nucleus (VLPO) for sleep, and the dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus (dLGN) for image formation (Hattar et al., 2002, 2006; Gooley et al., 2003; Hannibal and Fahrenkrug, 2004; Barnard et al., 2006; Brown et al., 2010; Ecker et al., 2010; Matynia, 2013; Schmidt et al., 2014). As is common for conventional RGCs, ipRGCs also send axon collaterals to innervate multiple brain regions (Pickard, 1985; Morin et al., 2003; Hattar et al., 2006).

In addition to ipRGCs, conventional RGCs also innervate these same targets, with proportions that vary across brain regions and species. For instance, virtually all retinal innervation of the mouse SCN is from ipRGCs (Hattar et al., 2006; Baver et al., 2008; Güler et al., 2008), whereas in the golden hamster, the ipRGCs constitute 80-90% (Sollars et al., 2003). It is possible that these varying proportions of inputs from ipRGCs and conventional RGCs correspond to some differences in nonimage vision across species. In addition, conventional RGCs projecting to non-image forming brain regions may also regulate certain biological functions. It was recently shown that both ON and OFF Y-like RGCs with alpha RGC morphology innervate the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN) in the Mongolian gerbil (Luan et al., 2011), and that these RGCs influence non-vision functions such as serotonergic tone and mood (Ren et al., 2013). Although ON-alpha (M4) RGCs do express low levels of melanopsin and are intrinsically photosensitive (Estevez et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2014), no melanopsin was detected in DRN-projecting RGCs which also includes OFF-alpha cells (Luan et al., 2011). Recently, we characterized an RGC population that projects to the caudal periaqueductal gray (cPAG) in the Mongolian

gerbil (Ren et al., 2014). In the mouse, a weak ipRGC projection has been described to the region of the PAG (Hattar et al., 2006). However, the function of cPAG-projecting RGCs, as well as those RGCs projecting to additional brain regions, remains to be determined.

ipRGCs are resistant to injury

ipRGCs are atypical central nervous system neurons, acting both as photoreceptors responding directly to environmental stimuli and as standard neurons integrating synaptic input and generating action potentials even in the absence of intrinsic phototransduction (Berson, 2003; Pickard et al., 2009). These properties, in and of themselves, would not necessarily have predicted ipRGCs to be resistant to traumatic injury or to be protected from certain pathological conditions. However, a growing literature indicates that indeed ipRGCs are less vulnerable to damage and disease compared to conventional RGCs. Owing to the labeling technique used, the work on injury resistant ability of ipRGCs is mainly focused on M1 type.

ipRGCs are resistant to optic nerve damage. It has been known for several decades that a small percentage of RGCs survive for protracted periods following optic nerve transection (Holländer et al., 1985). The first example of ipRGCs' enhanced survival properties came from a study examining RGC persistence foloptic nerve transection in the mouse. lowing Melanopsin-immunopositive RGCs (most likely M1 ipRGCs) showed a threefold increase in survival rate compared to non-melanopsin RGCs when examined 1 month after optic nerve injury (Robinson and Madison, 2004). Similarly, melanopsin-immunopositive RGC enhanced survival was observed 2 weeks after optic nerve injury in rats (Li et al., 2008). More recently it was reported that the M1 ipRGC is the most common RGC type that remains after rat optic nerve transection, comprising 82% of surviving RGCs 60 days after injury (Pérez de Sevilla Müller et al., 2014). Despite this enhanced survival after injury to their axons, ipRGCs did not show increased axonal regrowth into nerve grafts compared to conventional RGCs, suggesting that the mechanisms underlying ipRGCs' ability to survive following axonal injury differs from the cellular mechanisms promoting regrowth of their injured axons (Robinson and Madison, 2004). Similar findings were also obtained in an optic nerve crush model in which ipRGCs showed enhanced survival but not enhanced axon regeneration into the distal part of the crushed optic nerve (K Park, personal communication).

The cellular/molecular mechanisms underlying the survival of ipRGCs following optic nerve transection are currently unknown. However, one factor that may contribute to the survival of M1 ipRGCs after optic nerve damage is the undamaged axon collateral that remains within the eye (Joo et al., 2013; Schmidt et al., 2013; Semo et al., 2014). These ipRGCs may derive trophic support from within the retina for enhanced survival after optic nerve injury. Although the exact number of M1 ipRGCs that send collaterals into the retina, iris and ciliary

marginal zone (Semo et al., 2014) is not known, this specific subset of ipRGCs may be too small to fully account for the increased survival observed after optic nerve damage. Among the possible mechanisms that may contribute to ipRGCs' superior survival after damage is melanopsin phototransduction. At present it is not known whether melanopsin-mediated phototransduction contributes to M1 ipRGC survival after optic nerve transection. This could be examined using reporter knock-in mouse models in which a reporter gene replaces the melanopsin (Opn4) gene allowing M1 ipRGCs to be identified in the absence of melanopsin protein (Pickard et al., 2009). Therefore, using mice homozygous for the reporter (Opn4^{-/-}), ipRGC survival could be examined after optic nerve transection in the absence of melanopsin phototransduction.

ipRGCs are resistant to damage in animal models of glaucoma. Glaucoma is an ocular disorder typically associated with raised intraocular pressure (IOP) resulting in optic nerve damage and the loss of RGCs, and several groups have examined the sparing of ipRGCs in rodent models of glaucoma. While conventional RGC number was decreased in rats with an increase in IOP produced by laser cauterization, no change in the number of melanopsin-containing RGCs was seen (Li et al., 2006), suggesting that ipRGCs are resistant to the deleterious effects produced by IOP elevation. However, in CFP-D2 mice that develop a naturally occurring elevation of IOP with increasing age, ipRGCs appeared to be resistant to damage resulting from IOP elevation at an early age (5 months old), but became vulnerable at a later age (11 months old) (Zhang et al., 2013). This discrepancy may be related to the magnitude of IOP changes observed at the different ages. While IOP was significantly increased from 2 to 5 months of age, IOP increased even further at 11-months (Zhang et al., 2013). Thus the IOP threshold for inducing damage to ipRGCs may be significantly higher than the IOP levels that induce damage to conventional RGCs. It should be noted that in other rodent models of glaucoma, ipRGCs appeared to be vulnerable to damage to an extent similar to that of conventional RGCs (Drouyer et al., 2008; de Zavalia et al., 2011).

ipRGC activity has begun to be examined in patients with glaucoma using either light-induced reduction nocturnal pineal melatonin secretion or the pupillary light reflex as functional readouts of the melanopsin-based phototransduction. In most reports the results indicate significant reduction in ipRGC function in the affected eye compared either to the unaffected eye or to normal populations (Pérez-Rico et al., 2010; Kankipati et al., 2011; Nissen et al., 2014). However, in the case study of a glaucoma patient who had no light perception vision and marked retinal nerve fiber layer loss in the affected eye, a minimal pupillary light reflex was observed (Zhou et al., 2014), suggesting some sparing of ipRGC function.

The cellular/molecular mechanisms that appear to protect ipRGCs in animal models of glaucoma are not understood and again, it is not known whether melanopsin-based intrinsic photosensitivity plays a role. One difference between the results obtained in animal models of glaucoma and glaucoma patients is the endpoint examined: i.e., morphological vs functional. Future studies examining ipRGCs in animal models of glaucoma should examine both melanopsin immunoreactive RGCs and an ipRGC functional measure such as photoentrainment or the pupillary light reflex (see Drouyer et al., 2008). Moreover, ipRGC type must also be considered since ipRGCs differentially innervate their central targets (Baver et al., 2008) and thus one behavioral endpoint might be significantly altered whereas another might be less affected.

ipRGCs and inherited optic neuropathies. Hereditary optic neuropathies are a group of disorders with prominent optic nerve degeneration and dysfunction. The most common of these disorders are dominant optic neuropathy or atrophy (Kiers' disease) and Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy (LHON). These diseases are associated with mutations in mitochondrial DNA. although the exact mechanisms of mitochondrial impairment have yet to be determined. Due to high metabolic demands, it has been suggested that the optic nerve may be particularly vulnerable to perturbations in mitochondrial function (Bristow et al., 2002; Newman, 2005). In patients with mitochondrial optic neuropathies, i.e., LHON and dominant optic atrophy (DOA), and severe vision loss, ipRGC function was tested by examining the light-induced suppression of nocturnal melatonin secretion (mediated via ipRGC input to the SCN). Light-induced melatonin suppression in LHON and DOA patients was maintained as in controls, indicating that the retinohypothalamic tract is sufficiently preserved in these patients to stimulate the descending autonomic circuits to the pineal. Importantly, histological investigation of post-mortem eyes from two LHON patients and one with DOA, revealed that melanopsin-containing RGCs were relatively spared compared with the massive loss of total RGCs (La Morgia et al., 2010). Using the pupillary light reflex to assess preservation of ipRGCs in LHON, Moura and colleagues also reached the conclusion that there was a selective preservation of ipRGCs (Moura et al., 2013). Similar sparing of the pupillary light reflex was observed in a group of patients with hereditary optic neuropathy with optic nerve atrophy and vision loss (Kawasaki et al., 2014). These observations suggest that ipRGCs resist neurodegeneration caused by mitochondrial dysfunction and maintain non-image-forming functions of the eye in these highly visually impaired patients.

Mutations in the optic atrophy 1 (*OPA1*) gene are commonly associated with DOA patients. The product of the OPA1 gene, a dynamin-related guanosine triphosphatase, is targeted to the mitochondrial inner membrane and may play a role in the stabilization of mitochondrial membrane integrity (Newman, 2005). Mouse models have been used to examine the role of OPA1 in RGC function and the pathophysiology of vision loss (Williams et al., 2011). Using the B6;C3-Opa1^{Q285STOP} mouse model, Perganta and colleagues reported that ipRGC morphology and function were completely preserved, supporting the clinical observations that ipRGCs are protected in mitochondrial optic neuropathies (Perganta et al., 2013). It is not known why ipRGCs are less susceptible to these devastating mitochondrial diseases of the retina. It has been suggested that these cells may have a reduced energy demand and therefore be less vulnerable to mitochondrial dysfunction although, conversely, it has been shown ipRGCs have an unusually high accumulation of mitochondria in their dendrites (Belenky et al., 2003). ipRGC morphology and function have also been examined in animal models of diabetic retinopathy. Morphological changes and reduced ipRGC function have been consistently described although the total number of ipRGCs is not reduced (Gastinger et al., 2008; Kumar and Zhou, 2011; Lahouaoui et al., 2014).

ipRGCs are protected from N-methyl-p-aspartate (NMDA)-induced excitotoxicity. Following neuronal injury or under pathological conditions that lead to the excessive release of the neurotransmitter glutamate, a complex cascade of events occurs, leading to calcium dysregulation and subsequent neuronal death i.e., glutamate-induced excitotoxicity (Lipton and Rosenberg, 1994). As in other central nervous system neurons, the glutamate-evoked rise in intracellular calcium [Ca2+], in conventional RGCs is predominately mediated by the NMDA-type glutamate receptor as NMDA application in vivo and in vitro kills RGCs (Siliprandi et al., 1992; Lam et al., 1999; Li et al., 1999; Hartwick et al., 2008; but see also Ullian et al., 2004). ipRGCs receive glutamatergic input from bipolar cells, express AMPA, kainate and NMDA glutamate receptors, and are depolarized by glutamate (Belenky et al., 2003; Hartwick et al., 2007; Jakobs et al., 2007; Bramley et al., 2010). Thus, it might appear that ipRGCs would also be susceptible to the damaging effects of excess glutamate.

However, before the discovery of ipRGCs it was known that SCN-projecting RGCs were resistant to glutamateinduced toxicity; the retinohypothalamic tract was spared in rodents after peripheral glutamate injections whereas most RGCs projecting to the primary visual system were killed (Nemeroff et al., 1977; Pickard et al., 1982; Chambille, 1998). More recently these indirect findings that ipRGCs were less vulnerable to glutamate-induced toxicity were confirmed; in mice receiving intraocular NMDA injections, M1 ipRGCs were protected from the extensive cell death experienced by conventional RGCs (DeParis et al., 2012). It is currently not known why ipRGCs are resistant to NMDA excitotoxicity although the specific subunits that form the NMDA receptor in ipRGCs may play a role. Conventional NMDA receptors are typically comprised of GluN1 and GluN2 (previously NR1 and NR2) subunits to form a functional channel. However, they may also contain the modulatory GluN3A (previously NR3A) subunit that dramatically decreases the Ca2+ permeability of the NMDA receptor-associated channel. Cells expressing the GluN3A subunit display greater resistance to NMDA-mediated neurotoxicity (Nakanishi et al., 2009; Henson et al., 2010). It has been suggested that ipRGCs express the GluN3A receptor subunit, although GluN3A subunit expression is not unique to ipRGCs (Jakobs et al., 2007).

All of the studies to date on ipRGCs in injury models or under pathological conditions have examined M1 ipRGCs that express a high level of melanopsin and are thus easily identified. It is not clear whether melanopsin and intrinsic photosensitivity play a role in protecting RGCs from injury. This could be examined using knock-in mouse models in which a reporter replaces the Opn4 gene allowing M1 ipRGCs to be identified in the absence of melanopsin protein (Hattar et al., 2002; Pickard et al., 2009). The more sensitive Opn4-cre reporter mouse model (Ecker et al., 2010) could also be used to test whether other ipRGCs types that express much lower levels of melanopsin (M2-M6) are also resistant to optic nerve injury or NMDA-induced excitotoxicity. For example, in addition to M1 ipRGCs, ON alpha-RGCs were somewhat resistant to optic nerve transection in the rat (Pérez de Sevilla Müller et al., 2014) and these cells appear to be the M4 ipRGC subtype (Estevez et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2014).

It is unlikely that a single molecular/cellular mechanism is responsible for ipRGCs' resistance to injury or disease. Intraretinal axon collaterals and NMDA receptor subunits with low Ca²⁺ permeability probably play some role in the survival of M1 ipRGCs following optic nerve damage and glutamate excitotoxicity, respectively. Molecular mechanisms that might contribute to ipRGC survival include the pathways for phosphatase and tensin homolog/mammalian target of rapamycin (PTEN/mTOR) and Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK/STAT). JAK/STAT proteins are activated in response to several cytokines and growth factors and mediate neuronal survival including RGCs (Huang et al., 2007). Whereas resistance to NMDAinduced excitotoxicity does not appear to depend on JAK/STAT signaling (DeParis et al., 2012), the PI3K/Akt cascade may play a role in ipRGC survival after optic nerve transection (Li et al., 2008). In the past, we have shown that JAK/STAT and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways are involved in ciliary neurotrophic factor and cAMP elevation-mediated RGC survival and axonal regeneration (Cui et al., 2003; Park et al., 2004).

Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) has been shown to have neuroprotective effects in the retina when administered intraocularly; when injected in low concentrations into the vitreous it protects conventional RGCs from glutamate-induced excitotoxicity (for review, see Atlasz et al., 2010). In the retina, PACAP is expressed exclusively in ipRGCs (Hannibal et al., 2002, 2014). Thus, PACAP may play a role in ipRGCs' survival under conditions of glutamate-induced cell death, although whether neuronal expression of PACAP could mediate these effects is unknown. PACAP knockout mice could be used to examine the extent to which PACAP contributes to ipRGC resistance to injury and excitotoxicity (Reglodi et al., 2012).

CONCLUSION

In adult mammals, melanopsin is expressed only in ipRGCs, and all ipRGCs appear to express melanopsin (Do and Yau, 2010). There are at least six types of melanopsin-containing ipRGCs, targeting various brain regions involved in both image-forming and

non-image-forming functions. For unknown reasons, ipRGCs possess a higher intrinsic ability to survive under certain pathological and experimental conditions. A better understanding of the cellular and molecular mechanisms that provide neuroprotection to these RGCs may provide valuable insights for designing strategies to diminish the loss of vision following optic nerve injury or ocular disease.

GRANT INFORMATION

This work was supported by grants from the National Program on Key Basic Research Project of China (973 Program: 2011CB707501 and 2014CB542205); funds of Leading Talents of Guangdong (2013), Programme of Introducing Talents of Discipline to Universities (B14036), and Project of International as well as Hong Kong, Macao & Taiwan Science and Technology Cooperation Innovation Platform in Universities in Guangdong Province (2013gjhz0002); Guangdong Natural Science Foundation (S2013040014831); and USA National Institutes of Health R01NS077003.

REFERENCES

- Altimus CM, Güler AD, Alam NM, Arman AC, Prusky GT, Sampath AP, Hattar S (2010) Rod photoreceptors drive circadian photoentrainment across a wide range of light intensities. Nat Neurosci 13:1107–1112.
- Atlasz T, Szabadfi K, Kiss P, Racz B, Gallyas F, Tamas A, Gaal V, Marton Z, Gabriel R, Reglodi D (2010) Pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide in the retina: focus on the retinoprotective effects. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1200:128–139.
- Badea TC, Cahill H, Ecker J, Hattar S, Nathans J (2009) Distinct roles of transcription factors Brn3a and Brn3b in controlling the development, morphology, and function of retinal ganglion cells. Neuron 61:852–864.
- Barnard AR, Hattar S, Hankins MW, Lucas RJ (2006) Melanopsin regulates visual processing in the mouse retina. Curr Biol 16:389–395.
- Baver SB, Pickard GE, Sollars PJ, Pickard GE (2008) Two types of melanopsin retinal ganglion cell differentially innervate the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus and the olivary pretectal nucleus. Eur J Neurosci 27:1763–1770.
- Belenky MA, Smeraski CA, Provencio I, Sollars PJ, Pickard GE (2003) Melanopsin retinal ganglion cells receive bipolar and amacrine cell synapses. J Comp Neurol 460:380–393.
- Berson DM (2003) Strange vision: ganglion cells as circadian photoreceptors. Trends Neurosci 26:314–320.
- Berson DM, Dunn FA, Takao M (2002) Phototransduction by retinal ganglion cells that set the circadian clock. Science 295:1070–1073.
- Berson DM, Castrucci AM, Provencio I (2010) Morphology and mosaics of melanopsin-expressing retinal ganglion cell types in mice. J Comp Neurol 518:2405–2422.
- Bramley JR, Sollars PJ, Pickard GE (2010) Ion channels regulating light- and glutamate-evoked increases in intracellular Ca²⁺ in isolated melanopsin-expressing intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells. Soc Neurosci 698:15.
- Bristow EA, Griffiths PG, Andrews RM, Johnson MA, Turnbull DM (2002) The distribution of mitochondrial activity in relation to optic nerve structure. Arch Ophthalmol 120:791–796.
- Brown TM, Gias C, Hatori M, Keding SR, Semo M, Coffey PJ, Gigg J, Piggins HD, Panda S, Lucas RJ (2010) Melanopsin contributions to irradiance coding in the thalamo-cortical visual system. PLoS Biol 8:e1000558.

- Chambille I (1998) Retinal ganglion cells expressing the FOS protein after light stimulation in the Syrian hamster are relatively insensitive to neonatal treatment with monosodium glutamate. J Comp Neurol 392:458–467.
- Cui Q, Yip HK, Zhao RC, So KF, Harvey AR (2003) Intraocular elevation of cyclic AMP potentiates ciliary neurotrophic factorinduced regeneration of adult rat retinal ganglion cell axons. Mol Cell Neurosci 22:49–61.
- Czeisler CA, Shanahan TL, Klerman EB, Martens H, Brotman DJ, Emens JS, Klein T, Rizzo 3rd JF (1995) Suppression of melatonin secretion in some blind patients by exposure to bright light. N Engl J Med 332:6–11.
- de Zavalia N, Plano SA, Fernandez DC, Lanzani MF, Salido E, Belforte N, Sarmiento MIK, Golombek DA, Rosenstein RE (2011) Effect of experimental glaucoma on the non-image forming visual system. J Neurochem 117:904–914.
- DeParis SW, Caprara C, Grimm C (2012) Intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells are resistant to *N*-methyl-D-aspartic acid excitotoxicity. Mol Vis 18:2814–2827.
- Do MT, Yau KW (2010) Intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells. Physiol Rev 90:1547–1581.
- Do MT, Hang SH, Xue T, Zhong H, Liao HW, Bergles DE, Yau KW (2009) Photon capture and signaling by melanopsin retinal ganglion cells. Nature 457:281–287.
- Drouyer E, Dkhissi-Benyahya O, Chiquet C, WoldeMussle E, Ruiz G, Wheeler LA, Denis P, Cooper HM (2008) Glaucoma alters the circadian timing system. PLoS One 3:e3931.
- Dumitrescu ON, Pucci FG, Wong KY, Berson DM (2009) Ectopic retinal ON bipolar cell synapses in the OFF inner plexiform layer: contacts with dopaminergic amacrine cells and melanopsin ganglion cells. J Comp Neurol 517:226–244.
- Ecker JL, Dumitrescu ON, Wong KY, Alam NM, Chen SK, LeGates T, Renna JM, Prusky GT, Berson DM, Hattar S (2010) Melanopsinexpressing retinal ganglion-cell photoreceptors: cellular diversity and role in pattern vision. Neuron 67:49–60.
- Estevez ME, Fogerson PM, Ilardi MC, Borghuis BG, Chan E, Weng S, Auferkorte ON, Demb JB, Berson DM (2012) Form and function of the M4 cell, an intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cell type contributing to geniculocortical vision. J Neurosci 32:13608–13620.
- Foster RG, Provencio I, Hudson D, Fiske S, De Grip W, Menaker M (1991) Circadian photoreception in the retinally degenerate mouse (rd/rd). J Comp Physiol A Sens Neural Behav Physiol 169:39–50.
- Freedman MS, Lucas RJ, Soni B, von Schantz M, Munoz M, David-Gray Z, Foster R (1999) Regulation of mammalian circadian behavior by non-rod, non-cone, and ocular photoreceptors. Science 284:502–504.
- Gastinger MJ, Kunselman AR, Conboy EE, Bronson SK, Barber AJ (2008) Dendrite remodeling and other abnormalities in the retinal ganglion cells of Ins2^{Akita} diabetic mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 49:2635–2642.
- Gooley JJ, Lu J, Fischer D, Saper CB (2003) A broad role for melanopsin in nonvisual photoreception. J Neurosci 23:7093–7106.
- Göz D, Studholme K, Lappi DA, Rollag MD, Provencio I, Morin LP (2008) Targeted destruction of photosensitive retinal ganglion cells with a saporin conjugate alters the effects of light on mouse circadian rhythms. PLoS One 3:e3153.
- Güler AD, Ecker JL, Lall GS, Haq S, Altimus CM, Liao HW, Barnard AR, Cahill H, Badea TC, Zhao H, Hankins MW, Berson DM, Lucas RJ, Yau KW, Hattar S (2008) Melanopsin cells are the principal conduits for rod-cone input to non-image-forming vision. Nature 453:102–105.
- Hannibal J, Fahrenkrug J (2004) Target areas innervated by PACAP immunoreactive retinal ganglion cells. Cell Tissue Res 316:99–113.
- Hannibal J, Hindersson P, Knudsen SM, Georg B, Fahrenkrug J (2002) The photopigment melanopsin is exclusively present in PACAP containing retinal ganglion cells of the retinohypothalamic tract. J Neurosci 22(RC191):1–7.

- Hannibal J, Kankipati L, Strang CE, Peterson BB, Dacey D, Gamlin PD (2014) Central projections of intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells in the macaque monkey. J Comp Neurol 522:2231–2248.
- Hartwick AT, Bramley JR, Yu J, Stevens KT, Allen CN, Baldridge WH, Sollars PJ, Pickard GE (2007) Light-evoked calcium responses of isolated melanopsin-expressing retinal ganglion cells. J Neurosci 27:13468–13480.
- Hartwick AT, Hamilton CM, Baldridge WH (2008) Glutamatergic calcium dynamics and deregulation of rat retinal ganglion cells. J Physiol 586:3425–3446.
- Hatori M, Le H, Vollmers C, Keding SR, Tanaka N, Buch T, Waisman A, Schmedt C, Jegla T, Panda S (2008) Inducible ablation of melanopsin-expressing retinal ganglion cells reveals their central role in non-image forming visual responses. PLoS One 3:e2451.
- Hattar S, Liao HW, Takao M, Berson DM, Yau KW (2002) Melanopsin containing retinal ganglion cells: architecture, projections, and intrinsic photosensitivity. Science 295:1065–1070.
- Hattar S, Kumar M, Park A, Tong P, Tung J, Yau KW, Berson DM (2006) Central projections of melanopsin-expressing retinal ganglion cells in the mouse. J Comp Neurol 497:326–349.
- Henson MA, Roberts AC, Pérez-Otano I, Philpot BD (2010) Influence of the NR3A subunit on NMDA receptor functions. Prog Neurobiol 91:23–37.
- Holländer H, Bisti S, Maffei L (1985) Long term survival of cat retinal ganglion cells after intracranial optic nerve transection. Exp Brain Res 59:633–635.
- Hoshi H, Liu WL, Massey SC, Mills SL (2009) ON inputs to the OFF layer: bipolar cells that break the stratification rules of the retina. J Neurosci 29:8875–8883.
- Huang Y, Cen L-P, Choy KW, van Rooijen N, Wang N, Pang CP, Cui Q (2007) JAK/STAT pathway mediates retinal ganglion cell survival after acute ocular hypertension but not under normal conditions. Exp Eye Res 85:684–695.
- Jakobs TC, Ben Y, Masland RH (2007) Expression of mRNA for glutamate receptor subunits distinguishes the major classes of retinal neurons, but is less specific for individual cell types. Mol Vis 13:933–948.
- Johnson J, Wu V, Donovan M, Majumdar S, Renteria RC, Porco T, Van Gelder RN, Copenhagen DR (2010) Melanopsin-dependent light avoidance in neonatal mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:17374–17378.
- Joo HR, Peterson BB, Dacey DM, Hattar S, Chen SK (2013) Recurrent collaterals of intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells. Vis Neurosci 30:175–182.
- Jusuf PR, Lee SCS, Hannibal J, Grünert U (2007) Characterization and synaptic connectivity of melanopsin-containing ganglion cells in the primate retina. Eur J Neurosci 26:2906–2921.
- Kankipati L, Girkin CA, Gamlin PD (2011) The post-illumination pupil response is reduced in glaucoma patients. Invest Ophthamol Vis Sci 52:2287–2292.
- Kawasaki A, Collomb S, Léon L, Münch M (2014) Pupil responses derived from outer and inner retinal photoreception are normal in patients with hereditary optic neuropathy. Exp Eye Res 120:161–166.
- Kumar S, Zhou L (2011) Quantitative analysis of pupillary light reflex by real-time autofluorescent imaging in a diabetic mouse model. Exp Eye Res 92:164–172.
- La Morgia C, Ross-Cisneros FN, Sadun AA, Hannibal J, Munarini A, Mantovani V, Barboni P, Cantalupo G, Tozer KR, Sancisi E, Salomao SR, Moraes MN, Moraes-Filho MN, Heegaard S, Milea D, Kjer P, Montagna P, Carelli V (2010) Melanopsin retinal ganglion cells are resistant to neurodegeneration in mitochondrial optic neuropathies. Brain 133:2426–2438.
- Lahouaoui H, Coutanson C, Cooper HM, Bennis M, Dkhissi-Benyahya (2014) Clock genes and behavioral responses to light are altered in a mouse model of diabetic retinopathy. PLoS One 9:e101584.
- Lam TT, Abler AS, Kwong JM, Tso MO (1999) *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-induced apoptosis in rat retina. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 40:2391–2397.

- Li Y, Schlamp CL, Nickells RW (1999) Experimental induction of retinal ganglion cell death in adult mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 40:1004–1008.
- Li RS, Chen BY, Tay DK, Chan HH, Pu ML, So KF (2006) Melanopsinexpressing retinal ganglion cells are more injury-resistant in a chronic ocular hypertension model. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 47:2951–2958.
- Li SY, Yau SY, Chen BY, Tay DK, Lee VW, Pu ML, Chan HH, So KF (2008) Enhanced survival of melanopsin-expressing retinal ganglion cells after injury is associated with the PI3 K/Akt pathway. Cell Mol Neurobiol 28:1095–1107.
- Lipton SA, Rosenberg PA (1994) Excitatory amino acid as a final common pathway for neurologic disorders. N Engl J Med 330:613–622.
- Luan L, Ren C, Lau BW, Yang J, Pickard GE, So KF, Pu M (2011) Direct retino-raphe projection alters serotonergic tone and affective behavior. PLoS One 6:e18938.
- Lucas RJ (2013) Mammalian inner retinal photoreception. Curr Biol 23:R125–R133.
- Lucas RJ, Freedman MS, Munoz M, Garcia-Fernandez JM, Foster RG (1999) Regulation of the mammalian pineal by non-rod, noncone, and ocular photoreceptors. Science 284:505–507.
- Lucas RJ, Douglas RH, Foster RG (2001) Characterization of an ocular photopigment capable of driving pupillary constriction in mice. Nat Neurosci 4:621–626.
- Lucas RJ, Hattar S, Takao M, Berson DM, Foster RG, Yau KW (2003) Diminished pupillary light reflex at high irradiances in melanopsin-knockout mice. Science 299:245–247.
- Matynia A (2013) Blurring the boundaries of vision: novel functions of intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells. J Exp Neurosci 7:43–50.
- Morin LP, Blanchard JH, Provencio I (2003) Retinal ganglion cell projections to the hamster suprachiasmatic nucleus, intergeniculate leaflet, and visual midbrain: bifurcation and melanopsin immunoreactivity. J Comp Neurol 465:401–416.
- Moura ALA, Nagy BV, La Morgia C, Barboni P, Oliveira AGF, Salomao SR, Berezovsky A, de Moraes-Filho MN, Chicani CF, Belfort R, Carelli V, Sadun AA, Hood DC, Ventura DF (2013) The pupil light reflex in Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy: evidence for preservation of melanopsin-expressing retinal ganglion cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 54:4471–4477.
- Nakanishi N, Tu S, Shin Y, Cui J, Kurokawa T, Zhang D, Chen HS, Tong G, Lipton SA (2009) Neuroprotection by the NR3A subunit of the NMDA receptor. J Neurosci 29:5260–5265.
- Nemeroff CB, Konkol RJ, Bissette G, Youngblood W, Martin JB, Brazeau P, Rone MS, Prange AJ, Breese G, Kizer JS (1977) Analysis of the disruption in hypothalamic-pituitary regulation in rats treated neonatally with monosodium-L-glutamate (MSG): evidence for the involvement of tuberoinfundibular cholinergic and dopaminergic systems in neuroendocrine regulation. Endocrinology 101:613–622.
- Newman NJ (2005) Hereditary optic neuropathies: from the mitochondria to the optic nerve. Am J Ophthalmol 140:517–523.
- Nissen C, Sander B, Milea D, Kolko M, Herbst K, Hamard P, Lund-Andersen H (2014) Monochromatic pupillometry in unilateral glaucoma discloses no adaptive changes subserved by the ipRGCs. Front Neurol 5:15.
- Panda S, Sato TK, Castrucci AM, Rollag MD, DeGrip WJ, Hogenesch JB, Provencio I, Kay SA (2002) Melanopsin (Opn4) requirement for normal light-induced circadian phase shifting. Science 298:2213–2216.
- Park K, Luo JM, Hisheh S, Harvey AR, Cui Q (2004) Cellular mechanisms associated with spontaneous and ciliary neurotrophic factor-cAMP-induced survival and axonal regeneration of adult retinal ganglion cells. J Neurosci 24:10806–10815.
- Pérez de Sevilla Müller L, Do MT, Yau KW, He S, Baldridge WH (2010) Tracer coupling of intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells to amacrine cells in the mouse retina. J Comp Neurol 518:4813–4824.
- Pérez de Sevilla Müller L, Sargoy A, Rodriguez AR, Brecha NC (2014) Melanopsin ganglion cells are the most resistant retinal ganglion cell type to axonal injury in the rat retina. PLoS One 9:e93274.

- Pérez-Rico C, de la Villa P, Arribas-Gómez I, Blanco R (2010) Evaluation of functional integrity of the retinohypothalamic tract in advanced glaucoma using multifocal electroretinography and light-induced melatonin suppression. Exp Eye Res 91:578–583.
- Perganta G, Barnard AR, Katti C, Vachtsevanos A, Douglas RH, MacLaren RE, Votruba M, Sekaran S (2013) Non-image-forming light driven functions are preserved in a mouse model of autosomal dominant optic atrophy. PLoS One 8:e56350.
- Pickard GE (1985) Bifurcating axons of retinal ganglion cells terminate in the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus and the intergeniculate leaflet of the thalamus. Neurosci Lett 55:211–217.
- Pickard GE, Sollars PJ (2012) Intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol 162:59–90.
- Pickard GE, Turek FW, Lamperti AA, Silverman AJ (1982) The effect of neonatally administered monosodium glutamate (MSG) on the development of retinofugal projections and entrainment of circadian locomotor activity. Behav Neural Biol 34:433–444.
- Pickard GE, Baver SB, Ogilvie MD, Sollars PJ (2009) Light-induced Fos expression in intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells in melanopsin knockout (Opn4^{-/-}) mice. PLoS One 4:e4984.
- Provencio I, Wong S, Lederman AB, Argamaso SM, Foster RG (1994) Visual and circadian responses to light in aged retinally degenerate mice. Vis Res 34:1799–1806.
- Provencio I, Jiang G, DeGrip WJ, Hayes WP, Rollag MD (1998) Melanopsin: an opsin in melanophores, brain, and eye. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:340–345.
- Provencio I, Rodriguez IR, Jiang G, Hayes WP, Moreira EF, Rollag MD (2000) A novel human opsin in the inner retina. J Neurosci 20:600–605.
- Quattrochi LE, Estevez M, Kim I, Berson DM (2013) Structure, function and outputs of a novel type of ganglion-cell photoreceptor. Soc Neurosci 737:15.
- Rao S, Chun C, Fan J, Kofron JM, Yang MB, Hegde RS, Ferrara N, Copenhagen DR, Lang RA (2013) A direct and melanopsindependent fetal light response regulates mouse eye development. Nature 494:243–247.
- Reglodi D, Kiss P, Szabadfi K, Atlasz T, Gabriel R, Horvath G, Szakaly P, Sandor B, Lubics A, Laszlo E, Farkas J, Matkovits A, Brubel R, Hashimoto H, Ferencz A, Vincze A, Helyes Z, Welke L, Lakatos A, Tamas A (2012) PACAP is an endogenous protective factor – insights from PACAP-deficient mice. J Mol Neurosci 48:482–492.
- Ren C, Luan L, Wui-Man Lau B, Huang X, Yang J, Zhou Y, Wu X, Gao J, Pickard GE, So KF, Pu M (2013) Direct retino-raphe projection alters serotonergic tone and affective behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:1163–1175.
- Ren C, Pu M, Cui Q, So KF (2014) Dendritic morphology of caudal periaqueductal gray projecting retinal ganglion cells in Mongolian gerbil (*Meriones unguiculatus*). PLoS One 9:e103306.
- Robinson GA, Madison RD (2004) Axotomized mouse retinal ganglion cells containing melanopsin show enhanced survival, but not enhanced axon regrowth into a peripheral nerve graft. Vis Res 44:2667–2674.
- Ruby NF, Brennan TJ, Xie X, Cao V, Franken P, Heller HC, O'Hara BF (2002) Role of melanopsin in circadian responses to light. Science 298:2211–2213.
- Sand A, Schmidt TM, Kofuji (2012) Diverse types of ganglion cell photoreceptors in the mammalian retina. Prog Retin Eye Res 31:287–302.
- Schmidt TM, Kofuji P (2009) Functional and morphological differences among intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells. J Neurosci 29:476–482.
- Schmidt TM, Kofuji P (2011) Structure and function of bistratified intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells in the mouse. J Comp Neurol 519:1492–1504.
- Schmidt TM, Taniguchi K, Kofuji P (2008) Intrinsic and extrinsic light responses in melanopsin-expressing ganglion cells during mouse development. J Neurophysiol 100:371–384.

- Schmidt TM, Do MT, Dacey D, Lucas R, Hattar S, Matynia A (2011) Melanopsin-positive intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells: from form to function. J Neurosci 31:16094–16101.
- Schmidt TM, Rupp AC, Chew KS, Yungher B, Park KK, Hattar S (2013) IpRGCs mediate ipsilateral pupil constriction. Soc Neurosci 553:10.
- Schmidt TM, Alam NM, Chen S, Kofuji P, Glen WL, Prusky GT, Hattar S (2014) A role for melanopsin in alpha retinal ganglion cells and contrast detection. Neuron 82:781–788.
- Sekaran S, Foster RG, Lucas RJ, Hankins MW (2003) Calcium imaging reveals a network of intrinsically light-sensitive innerretinal neurons. Curr Biol 13:1290–1298.
- Semo M, Gias C, Ahmado A, Vugler A (2014) A role for the ciliary marginal zone in the melanopsin-dependent intrinsic pupillary light reflex. Exp Eye Res 119:8–18.
- Siliprandi R, Canella R, Carmignoto G, Schiavo N, Zanellato A, Zanoni R, Vantini G (1992) *N*-methyl-p-aspartate-induced neurotoxicity and antiapoptotic pathways in the rat retina. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 8:567–573.
- Sollars PJ, Smeraski CA, Kaufman JD, Ogilvie MD, Provencio I, Pickard GE (2003) Melanopsin and non-melanopsin expressing retinal ganglion cells innervate the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus. Vis Neurosci 20:601–610.
- Tsai JW, Hannibal J, Hagiwara G, Colas D, Ruppert E, Ruby NF, Heller HC, Franken P, Bourgin P (2009) Melanopsin as a sleep modulator: circadian gating of the direct effects of light on sleep and altered sleep homeostasis in Opn4(–/–) mice. PLoS Biol 7:e1000125.
- Tu DC, Zhang D, Demas J, Slutsky EB, Provencio I, Holy TE, Van Gelder RN (2005) Physiologic diversity and development of intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells. Neuron 48:987–999.
- Ullian EM, Barkis WB, Chen S, Diamond JS, Barres BA (2004) Invulnerability of retinal ganglion cells to NMDA excitotoxicity. Mol Cell Neurosci 26:544–557.
- Viney TJ, Balint K, Hillier D, Siegert S, Boldogkoi Z, Enquist LW, Meister M, Cepko CL, Roska B (2007) Local retinal circuits of melanopsin containing ganglion cells identified by transsynaptic viral tracing. Curr Biol 17:981–988.
- Weaver DR, Reppert SM (1995) Definition of the developmental transition from dopaminergic to photic regulation of c-fos gene expression in the rat suprachiasmatic nucleus. Mol Brain Res 33:136–148.
- Williams PA, Morgan JE, Votruba M (2011) Mouse models of dominant optic atrophy: what do they tell us about the pathophysiology of visual loss? Vis Res 51:229–234.
- Yoshimura T, Ebihara S (1996) Spectral sensitivity of photoreceptors mediating phase-shifts of circadian rhythms in retinally degenerate CBA/J (rd/rd) and normal CBA/N (+/+)mice. J Comp Physiol A 178:797–802.
- Zhang D-Q, Wong KY, Sollars PJ, Berson DM, Pickard GE, McMahon DG (2008) Intra-retinal signaling by ganglion cell photoreceptors to dopaminergic amacrine neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:14181–14186.
- Zhang D-Q, Belenky MA, Sollars PJ, Pickard GE, McMahon DG (2012) Melanopsin mediates retrograde visual signaling in the retina. PLoS One 7:e42647.
- Zhang Q, Vuong H, Huang X, Wang YL, Brecha N, Pu ML, Gao J (2013) Melanopsin-expressing retinal ganglion cell loss and behavioral analysis in the Thy-1-CFP-DBA/2J mouse model of glaucoma. Sci China Life Sci 56:720–730.
- Zhao X, Stafford BK, Godin AL, King WM, Wong KY (2014) Photoresponse diversity among the five types of intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells. J Physiol 592:1619–1636.
- Zhou Y, Davis AS, Spitze A, Lee AG (2014) Maintenance of pupillary response in a glaucoma patient with no light perception due to persistence of melanopsin ganglion cells. Can J Ophthamol 49:e20–e21.

(Accepted 4 November 2014) (Available online 10 November 2014)